IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE Deputy STATE OF CALIFORNIA

C.A., A MINOR, ETC., ET AL.,

Plaintiff(s) and Appellant(s),

VS.

WILLIAM S. HART UNION HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT AND GOLDEN VALLEY HIGH SCHOOL,

Defendants and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION 1, CASE NO. B217982 LOS ANGELES SUPERIOR COURT CASE NO. PC 044428

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MANLY & STEWART

John C. Manly, Bar No. 149080 4220 Von Karman Avenue, Suite 200 Newport Beach, California 92660 Telephone: (949) 252-9990

VINCE W. FINALDI, BAR No. 238279

ESNER, CHANG & BOYER

INTRODUCTION						
I.	Stan	dard of review				
II.	II. When employees of a school district hire, retain or supervise a guidance counselor whom they know or have reason to know has a history of child molestation, the school district could be <i>vicariously</i> liable for that negligent hiring, retention or supervision under Government Code sections 820 and 815.2 and, contrary to the majority opinion, the plaintiff need not cite to yet an additional statute authorizing a <i>direct</i> liability claim against the school district					
	A.	Governmental entities are vicariously liable for the negligence of their employees				
	В.	School supervisory employees could be liable for their negligent hiring, retention or supervision of known child molesters				
	C.	Claims based on a school district's employee's negligent hiring, retention or supervision of a known child molester are not necessarily "direct" negligence claims against the District17				
	D.	The Majority's analysis does not support its result				
CONCLUSI	ION .	29				
CERTIFIC	ATE O	OF WORD COUNT				

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Aubry v. Tri-City Hospital Dist. (1992) 2 Cal.4th 962
Chee v. Amanda Goldt Property Management (2006) 143 Cal.App.4th 1360 12
City of Dinuba v. County of Tulare (2007) 41 Cal. 4th 859
Committee for Green Foothills v. Santa Clara County Bd. of Supervisors (2010) 48 Cal. 4th 32
Dailey v. Los Angeles Unified Sch. Dist. (1970) 2 Cal. 3d 741
de Villers v. County of San Diego (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 238 24-27
Delfino v. Agilent Technologies, Inc. (2006) 145 Cal.App.4th 790
Dia CC. v. Ithaca City School Dist. (2003) 304 A.D.2d 955 [758 N.Y.S.2d 197, 199-200]
Doe Parents No. 1 v. State, Dept. of Education (2002) 100 Hawaii 34 [58 P.3d 545]
Doe v. Durtschi (1986) 110 Idaho 466 [716 P.2d 1238, 1243-1244]
Durham Bd. of Education v. National Union (1993) 109 N.C.App. 152 [426 S.E.2d 451]
Evan F. v. Hughson United Methodist Church (1992) 8 Cal.App.4th 82820
Farm Raised Salmon Cases (2008) 42 Cal.4th 10778
Grudt v. City of Los Angeles (1970) 2 Cal.3d 575
Hertzel v. Palmyra School Dist. (2007) 15 Neb.App. 538 [733 N.W.2d 578, 584-586]
Hoff v. Vacaville Unified School Dist. (1998) 19 Cal. 4th 925

Hoyem v. Manhattan Beach City Sch. Dist. (1978) 22 Cal.3d 508 15, 18
J.H. v. Los Angeles Unified School Dist. (2010) 183 Cal. App. 4th 123
John R. v. Oakland Unified School Dist. (1989) 48 Cal.3d 438 15, 24, 27, 29
Leger v. Stockton Unified School Dist. (1988) 202 Cal. App.3d 1448 13, 18
Lugtu v. California Highway Patrol (2001) 26 Cal. 4th 703
M. W. v. Panama Buena Vista Union School Dist. (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 508
Phillips v. TLC Plumbing, Inc. (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1133
Randi W. v. Muroc Joint Unified School Dist. (1997) 14 Cal.4th 1066 15
Roman Catholic Bishop v. Superior Court (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 1556 19
School Bd. of Orange County v. Coffey (Fla.Dist.Ct.App. 1988) 524 So.2d 1052
Virginia G. V. ABC Unified School District, (1993) 15 Cal.App.4th 184814, 15
Watkins Glen Central v. National Union Fire (2001) 286 A.D.2d 48 [732 N.Y.S.2d 70]
Wattenbarger v. Cincinnati Reds, Inc. (1994) 28 Cal.App.4th 746
Wise v. Thrifty Payless, Inc. (2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 1296
Zelig v. County of Los Angeles (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1112
STATUTES
Gov. Code, § 815.2, subds. (a), (b)
Gov. Code, § 820

ISSUE PRESENTED

When a school district's employees hire, retain or supervise a school guidance counselor they know or have reason to know has a history of child molestation, can the school district be *vicariously* liable for that negligent hiring, retention or supervision under Government Code section 820 if that counselor molests a student entrusted to her, or is the molested student unable to sue the school district because there is no separate statute imposing *direct* liability on the District for that conduct, as the Court of Appeal Majority held in its published opinion in this case?

INTRODUCTION

As incredible as it sounds, under the published majority opinion of the Court of Appeal in this case, a school district who hires, retains or supervises a child molester to personally counsel high school students is not subject to any liability if that counselor predictably molests one of the students entrusted to her – even though the school district's employees were previously aware or had reason to be aware of the counselor's molestation history and did nothing about it. As explained, that is not the law.

Schools and their employees are in a special relationship with the students entrusted to their care and therefore owe a duty to protect those students from foreseeable harm caused by third parties — whether that third party is a school yard bully or a school guidance counselor with a history of child abuse. Here, the District's employees breached this duty owed to plaintiff by having him personally counseled by an individual they either knew or had reason to know was a child molester. Those employees therefore could be individually liable for their individual negligence and, in turn, the school could be vicariously liable for that negligence.

Accordingly, this Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's Majority opinion, and reaffirm that under California law, schools are not insulated from liability if they hire/retain/supervise individuals whom they either know or have reason to know are child molesters to work closely with the students whose safety is entrusted to them.

In this case, it is alleged that employees of the William S. Hart Union High School District ("School District") negligently hired, retained or supervised Roselyn Hubbell to be a head high school guidance counselor even though these employees knew or had reason to know that Ms. Hubbell had a history of child molestation. While working as counselor, Ms. Hubbell started a relationship with one of the 15-year-old students in her charge (plaintiff C.A.) and sexually molested him, engaging in sexual acts with him at the school. In its published majority

opinion, the Court of Appeal held that plaintiff could not pursue any of his claims against the School District.

The Majority held there could be no vicarious liability for the acts of the molester because such acts will be deemed outside the course and scope of employment. The Majority then went further and held that there could be no liability for the hiring, retention or supervision of the molester because, according to the Majority, there is no statute imposing *direct* liability on the School District itself for such conduct.

In reaching its conclusion, the Majority analyzed plaintiff's claim seeking to hold the School District liable for Ms. Hubbell's conduct in molesting plaintiff as being vicarious in nature, but the claims seeking to impose liability for the hiring, retention or supervision of Ms. Hubbell as being direct in nature only. Viewed in this way the Majority concluded that the School District could not be liable for the hiring, retention or supervision of Ms. Hubbell because, in order for there to be direct liability there must first be a statute imposing liability for the conduct in question, which was absent here.

As Justice Mallano quickly recognized in his vigorous dissenting opinion, the flaw in the Majority's analysis was its failure to recognize that when a plaintiff claims (such as here) that certain employees of a governmental entity negligently hire, retain or supervise another employee who in turn directly injures the plaintiff, then the negligent hiring and retention claim is *vicarious* in nature. The plaintiff is

seeking to impose liability on the entity based upon the negligent conduct of the employees who were responsible for the hiring, retention or supervision of the unfit employee who directly injured the plaintiff. "Here, the school district's liability is based on the wrongful conduct – negligence – of employees *other than* the guidance counselor." (Slip Opinion, Dissent p. 11.)

The reason why this characterization is so important is that under the Government Code "a public employee is liable for injury caused by his act or omission to the same extent as a private person" (Gov. Code, § 820, subd. (a)) and "[a] public entity is liable for injury proximately caused by an act or omission of an employee of the public entity within the scope of his employment if the act or omission would . . . have given rise to a cause of action against that employee,' unless 'the employee is immune from liability." (Gov. Code, § 815.2, subds. (a), (b).) Thus, so long as the basis for plaintiff's claim is the negligence of an employee of a governmental entity and that claim would have been recognized if it had been brought against a private defendant, then section 815.2 provides a statutory basis to hold that governmental entity vicariously liable for its employee's tortious conduct.

The Court of Appeal Majority is therefore unquestionably wrong. In its answer to the petition for review, the District attempted to justify the Majority's conclusion by arguing that there could be no vicarious liability under Government Code section 820, subdivision (a). According to the District, a school employee

cannot be individually liable when a student is foreseeably molested by a guidance counselor even though (1) that employee knows or has reason to know that the guidance counselor has molested students in the past, and yet decides to hire her anyway or (2) after the counselor has been hired, the school employee knows or has reason to know that the counselor is continuing to molest students and yet fails to supervise, train or discharge the counselor and instead continues to facilitate the sexual abuse by turning a blind eye to such misconduct.

This argument ignores the mandatory nature of education, requiring parents to entrust the safety of their children to school personnel. In turn, those school personnel are in a special relationship with the students entrusted to their care to guard against foreseeable risks of harm. Accordingly, when school employees hire, retain or supervise a guidance counsel whom they either know or have reason to know is a child molester, they could be individually liable if a student is molested by that counselor and the school could be vicariously liable for that negligence.

Simply put, parents are required to send their young child to public schools on weekday mornings. They are entitled to know that there will be recourse against that school if its employees hire/retain/supervise known child molesters to have direct, one-on-one interactions with their child, and their child is foreseeably molested. This Court should therefore reverse the opinion of the Court of Appeal and remand this matter for a trial on its merits.

STATEMENT OF FACTS¹

C.A. was a 15-year-old student at a public high school operated by the William S. Hart Union High School District (School District). (AA 5.) Roselyn Hubbell, was the head guidance counselor and advisor at the high school (an employee of the School District) who was assigned to "counsel, advise and mentor" C.A. (AA 8.) The District and the School "specifically represented to Plaintiff and Plaintiff's family that [Ms. Hubbell] was a highly qualified senior guidance counselor and advisor who could and would assist Plaintiff with working through personal and academic issues he faced." (AA 7.)

The complaint alleged that the guidance counselor sexually harassed, abused and molested C.A. on a number of occasions from January 2007 to September 14, 2007. The guidance counselor drove C.A. home from school and spent long hours with C.A. on and off the high school premises. The guidance counselor performed a variety of sexual acts on C.A. and required him to perform a number of sexual acts on her, some occurring at the school. C.A. suffered "extensive physical, psychological and emotional damages" as a result. (AA 14.)

The School District "knew that [the guidance counselor] had engaged in

The facts are derived from the operative complaint (AA 1-42) as is appropriate in an appeal reviewing an order sustaining a demurrer without leave to amend such as this. (Aubry v. Tri-City Hospital Dist. (1992) 2 Cal.4th 962, 966-967.)

unlawful sexually-related conduct with minors in the past, and/or was continuing to engage in such conduct" (AA 9), but failed to take reasonable steps to prevent further unlawful sexual conduct by the guidance counselor whom it had reason to know had sexually abused plaintiff. (AA 10.)

The complaint stated causes of action against the School District, the high school, and the guidance counselor for negligence; negligent supervision; negligent hiring and/or retention; negligent failure to warn, train or educate; constructive fraud; intentional infliction of emotional distress; sexual battery; assault; sexual harassment; gender violence; and unfair business practices. (AA 4.)

In its published majority opinion, the Court of Appeal held, among other things, that plaintiff could not pursue his claim for negligent hiring, retention or supervision because, according to the majority, there was no statutory basis for such a claim. In reaching this conclusion, the majority treated the negligent hiring, retention or supervision claim as being premised on direct liability against the School District only. (Slip Opinion Majority, pp. 6-8.) In his thorough dissent, Justice Mallano reasoned that when employees of the School District hired and retained a person they knew or had reason to know was a child molester or failed to properly supervise someone they had reason to know was molesting a child, they acted negligently and were potentially liable under Government Code section 820, subdivision (a). Accordingly, the School District would be subject to

vicarious liability for the supervisory employee's negligence under Government Code section 815.2, subdivision (a) and (b). (Slip Opinion Dissent, pp. 1-27.)

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of review.

This Court applies "a de novo standard of review because this case was resolved on demurrer. . . . " (Farm Raised Salmon Cases (2008) 42 Cal.4th 1077. 1089.) "On appeal from a judgment dismissing an action after sustaining a demurrer without leave to amend, the standard of review is well settled. We give the complaint a reasonable interpretation, reading it as a whole and its parts in their context. (Zelig v. County of Los Angeles (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1112, 1126 [119 Cal. Rptr. 2d 709, 45 P.3d 1171].) Further, we treat the demurrer as admitting all material facts properly pleaded, but do not assume the truth of contentions, deductions or conclusions of law. (Ibid.; Aubry v. Tri-City Hospital Dist. (1992) 2 Cal.4th 962, 966-967 [9 Cal. Rptr. 2d 92, 831 P.2d 317] (Aubry).) When a demurrer is sustained, we determine whether the complaint states facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action. (Zelig, supra, 27 Cal.4th at p. 1126.) And when it is sustained without leave to amend, we decide whether there is a reasonable possibility that the defect can be cured by amendment: if it can be, the trial court

has abused its discretion and we reverse. (*Ibid.*)" (*City of Dinuba v. County of Tulare* (2007) 41 Cal. 4th 859, 865; see *Committee for Green Foothills v. Santa Clara County Bd. of Supervisors* (2010) 48 Cal. 4th 32, 42.)

II. When employees of a school district hire, retain or supervise a guidance counselor whom they know or have reason to know has a history of child molestation, the school district could be *vicariously* liable for that negligent hiring, retention or supervision under Government Code sections 820 and 815.2 and, contrary to the majority opinion, the plaintiff need not cite to yet an additional statute authorizing a *direct* liability claim against the school district.

As described above, plaintiff alleged that the School District was vicariously liable for the negligent hiring, retention or supervision of Roselyn Hubbell as a high school guidance counselor because at least one of its employees knew or had reason to know that Ms. Hubbell had a history of child molestation.

(Ante at pp. 5-6.) Yet, the majority opinion treated plaintiff's claim as one imposing only "direct" in contrast to "vicarious" liability and held that there was no statute that specifically permitted a direct liability claim against a governmental entity. (Slip Opinion Majority, pp. 6-8.)

In so ruling, the majority crafted a blanket rule characterizing negligent hiring/retention/supervision claims as necessarily seeking to impose "direct" liability only. The majority was mistaken. Before explaining why, it is first important to explain that there is a statutory basis for imposing vicarious liability on a governmental entity due to the tortious conduct of an employee – something the majority ignores due to its "direct" liability analysis.

A. Governmental entities are vicariously liable for the negligence of their employees.

"Under the provisions of the California Tort Claims Act, 'a public employee is liable for injury caused by his act or omission to the same extent as a private person,' except as otherwise specifically provided by statute. (Gov. Code, § 820, subd. (a), italics added.) In addition, the Tort Claims Act further provides that '[a] public entity is liable for injury proximately caused by an act or omission of an employee of the public entity within the scope of his employment if the act or omission would . . . have given rise to a cause of action against that employee,' unless 'the employee is immune from liability.' (Gov. Code, § 815.2, subds. (a), (b), italics added.)" (*Lugtu v. California Highway Patrol* (2001) 26 Cal. 4th 703, 715-718.)

"Through these statutes, 'the Legislature incorporated "general standards of

tort liability as the primary basis for respondeat superior liability of public entities.

..." [Citation.]' (*Mary M. v. City of Los Angeles, supra*, 54 Cal. 3d at pp. 209210.) Under them, 'a school district is vicariously liable for injuries proximately caused by [the] negligence' of school personnel 'responsible for student supervision.' (*Dailey v. Los Angeles Unified Sch. Dist.* (1970) 2 Cal. 3d 741, 747
[87 Cal. Rptr. 376, 470 P.2d 360] (*Dailey*); see also *Castro v. Los Angeles Bd. of Education* (1976) 54 Cal. App. 3d 232, 235 [126 Cal. Rptr. 537] [under §§ 815.2, 'school districts are liable for the negligence of their employees'].)" (*Hoff v. Vacaville Unified School Dist.* (1998) 19 Cal. 4th 925, 932-933; *Zelig v. County of Los Angeles* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1112, 1128 ["Vicarious liability is a primary basis for liability on the part of a public entity, and flows from the responsibility of such an entity for the acts of its employees under the principle of respondeat superior."])

Thus, so long as a plaintiff alleges that an employee of a governmental entity engaged in tortious conduct within the course and scope of his or her employment for which that employee could be personally liable, then there is a statutory basis to find that the employer-governmental-entity could be vicariously liable for that tortious conduct.

When, as here, a plaintiff alleges that a supervisory employee of a public entity negligently hired, retained or supervised another employee who in turn injured the plaintiff, then that plaintiff is seeking to impose vicarious liability on the public entity for negligent hiring, retention or supervision. Liability is being

sought not because the entity itself was negligent, but instead because it is vicariously liable for the negligence of an employee (the employee who hired or retained the unfit employee). "Vicarious liability "means that the act or omission of one person . . . is imputed by operation of law to another," without regard to fault. (Srithong v. Total Investment Co. (1994) 23 Cal. App. 4th 721, 726 [28 Cal. Rptr. 2d 672], italics added.) For example, vicarious liability for torts is imposed by operation of law upon employers for acts of their employees within the course and scope of employment, or upon principals for the acts of their agents. " (Chee v. Amanda Goldt Property Management (2006) 143 Cal. App. 4th 1360, 1375; see Wise v. Thrifty Payless, Inc. (2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 1296, 1305 I"Vicarious liability is based on the concept that one person's wrongful act will be imputed to another despite the fact the latter is free from fault. It is an exception to the general rule that persons are only responsible for their own wrongful acts. (See Prosser & Keeton, Torts (5th ed. 1984) §§ 69, pp. 499-500.)"])

B. School supervisory employees could be liable for their negligent hiring, retention or supervision of known child molesters.

In the answer to the Petition for Review, the District argued that individual school employees could not be individually liable for their hiring, retention or supervision of a school counselor known to be a child molester. The District is

mistaken.

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