Supreme Court Case No. S188982 2d Civil No. B217982



MAY 2 6 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

C.A., A MINOR, ETC.

Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

WILLIAM S. HART UNION HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT, et al.

Defendants and Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After A Decision By The Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division 1, Case No. B217985 (189 Cal.App.4th 1166, 117 Cal.Rptr.3d 283) Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. PC 044428

GREINES, MARTIN, STEIN & RICHLAND LLP

Robert A. Olson, SBN 109374
Feris M. Greenberger, SBN 93914
Timothy T. Coates, SBN 110364
5900 Wilshire Boulevard, 12th Floor
Los Angeles, California 90036

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

ARGUMENT

THE ESTABLISHED STATUTORY SCHEME PRECLUDES PUBLIC ENTITY VICARIOUS LIABILITY FOR NEGLIGENT EMPLOYEE HIRING, RETENTION OR OVERSIGHT

The opening brief presents a single issue: whether a public entity can be vicariously liable for the supposed negligent hiring, retention or oversight of other employees, in this case a high school guidance counselor.² Although the opening brief discusses the school context at length, the issue framed does not depend on that context. As framed, the issue is limited to a public entity's vicarious liability for its employees' actions in hiring, retaining, or overseeing other employees. The established law is that there is and can be no such individual employee personal liability and without such individual employee liability, there can be no vicarious liability.

What the opening brief seeks is simply a radical remaking of the statutory law.

² This issue relates at most to the complaint's first four causes of action (for negligence, negligent supervision, negligent hiring, and negligent failure to train). The petition raised no issue as to the complaint's remaining causes of action, the dismissal of which the Court of Appeal's opinion also affirmed. Those remaining claims must now be deemed finally dismissed.

A. Public Entity Liability Is Strictly Limited To Vicarious Liability Where Employees Are *Personally* Liable.

The Opening Brief seeks to ignore or remake settled law. Absent a direct statutory mandate, a public entity is not liable as an entity. (Gov. Code, § 815.) The Opening Brief (OB) makes no reference to or argument about such a statutory mandate. It identifies no statutory basis for either school district liability or any individual employee liability, other than the statutory scheme making public entities vicariously liable if, and only if, the entity's employee is personally liable. (Gov. Code, §§ 815.2, 820; see OB at iii.)³ Rather, a public entity's liability is vicarious of the liability of individual employees. (Gov. Code, §§ 820, 815.2 [public entity liable only if individual public entity employee would also be liable].) Public entity employees are liable only to "the same extent as a private person." (Gov. Code, § 820, subd. (a).)

These statutory rules are clear, as this Court has recognized. "The Government Claims Act (§ 810 et seq.) establishes the limits of common law liability for public entities, stating: 'Except as otherwise provided by statute: [¶] (a) A public entity is not liable for an injury, whether such injury arises out of an act or omission of the public entity or a public employee or any other person.' (§ 815, subd. (a), italics added.) . . . 'This section abolishes all common law or judicially declared forms of liability

³ Conceivably, there might be a specific statutory basis for a mandatory duty creating either direct entity liability or individual personal liability. But none is argued in this case. Rather, the sole assertion in the Opening Brief is that individual school district employees owe some sort of common law liability for which the school district is vicariously liable.

for public entities, except for such liability as may be required by the state or federal constitution, e.g., inverse condemnation. . . . ' [Citation.] Moreover, our own decisions confirm that section 815 abolishes common law tort liability for public entities." (Miklosy v. Regents of University of California (2008) 44 Cal.4th 876, 899, italics added in Miklosy.)

These are the rules that the Legislature has imposed. They are not open to controversy. But the Opening Brief asks this Court to remake the rules. Why? Because, it asserts, this case presents sympathetic circumstances. But that is no reason to usurp the Legislature's choices. The Opening Brief does not dispute that no statute makes a public entity directly liable to third persons for employee hiring, retention or oversight decisions. Certainly it does not identify any such statute (its only statutory references are to the above-cited Government Code sections). Rather, it premises the sole issue as supposed vicarious liability for individual public employees' *personal* liability. The sole question, thus, is whether *individual* school district employees have *personal* liability for which the school district may be vicariously liable.

Indeed, that was the whole point of this Court's decision in *Eastburn* v. Regional Fire Protection Authority (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1175, reiterating the distinction between direct and vicarious liability (id. at pp. 1183-1185; see de Villers v. County of San Diego, supra, 156 Cal.App.4th at pp. 252-253; Munoz v. City of Union City (2004) 120 Cal.App.4th 1077, 1113) – a distinction that the Opening Brief glosses over. Eastburn arose out of public entities' alleged negligence in the manner in which 911 dispatchers

were trained and handled emergency calls. This Court concluded – after a lengthy discussion about the distinction between direct and vicarious liability – that plaintiffs failed to identify an independent statutory basis for imposing liability on defendants. (*Eastburn*, *supra*, at pp. 1183-1185.) It held that no public entity liability could exist because individual public entity employees were not personally liable for how they trained or oversaw dispatchers.

The same is true here. Despite the Opening Brief's attempt to blur the line between direct and vicarious liability, it has failed to address, let alone identify authority to impose, direct liability *on individuals* on the basis of negligent hiring or supervision for which the public entity school district might be vicariously liable.

B. Neither Private Nor, Accordingly, Public Employees Are
Personally Liable For Negligent Hiring And Supervision
of Co-Workers.

Thus, the critical question is whether an individual private-person manager or supervisor can be personally liable for negligent hiring, retention, or supervision of a co-employee.

1. The complaint identifies no supposedly liable individual.

Under section 820, if a co-employee, manager or supervisor as a private individual cannot be personally liable for negligent hiring, firing, or supervision then a public employee cannot be individually liable either.

(Gov. Code, § 820, subd. (a).) The public entity vicarious liability "doctrine clearly contemplates that the negligent employee whose conduct is sought to be attributed to the employer at least be specifically identified." (*Munoz v. City of Union City, supra*, 120 Cal.App.4th at p. 1113.)

The complaint does not identify any particular public entity employee who made any employment hiring, retention, or oversight decision. Rather, it merely alleges that the public entity and unidentified Doe employees somehow negligently hired, retained, and oversaw the malfeasant counselor. It alleges that unspecified persons knew or should have known of the counselor's proclivities, but it does not allege why any specific individual owed a personal duty to plaintiff or otherwise would be personally liable. There is no allegation as to what any individual employee (upon whom vicarious liability must be premised) did wrong. There is no identification of any individual by name, title, or even function. There must be an allegation that some particular individual, no matter how identified, both owed a duty and was personally at fault. There is none here.

 Only entities, not individuals, are liable for negligent hiring, supervision, and firing of entities' employees.

Individual employees are not *personally* liable for entities' negligent hiring or supervision. Case law is uniform in imposing liability only on an *employer* for negligent hiring and supervision, not on other employees. (See, e.g., *Roman Catholic Bishop v. Superior Court* (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 1556, 1564-1565 ["[a]n *employer* may be liable to a third person for the employer's negligence in hiring or retaining an employee," italics added].) Thus, private enterprises are directly liable *as entities*. But, absent specific statutory mandate not asserted here, public entities cannot be directly liable *as entities*. They can only be vicariously liable based on their employees' personal liability. Liability for negligent hiring or supervision of an employee cannot be based on vicarious liability because it is a tort of "direct liability for negligence." (*Delfino v. Agilent Technologies, Inc.* (2006) 145 Cal.App.4th 790, 815, citing 2 Dobbs, The Law of Torts (2001) § 333, p. 906.)

California courts have adopted the Restatement formulation of the tort imposing liability on *the employing principal* only: "A *principal* who conducts an activity through an agent is subject to liability for harm to a third party caused by the agent's conduct if the harm was caused by *the principal's negligence* in selecting, training, retaining, supervising, or otherwise controlling the agent." (*Phillips v. TLC Plumbing, Inc.* (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1133, 1140, italics added, quoting Rest.3d

Agency, § 7.05(1) [companion to Rest.2d Agency, § 213]; see *Evan F. v. Hughson United Methodist Church* (1992) 8 Cal.App.4th 828, 836 [following Rest.2d Agency, § 213].) The Restatement says nothing about the propriety of imposing liability directly on individual employees, nor do the published cases. Rather, the tort is framed only in relation to the duty *the enterprise* or *its principal* owes. (Rest.2d Agency, § 213, coms. a & f, pp. 458-461.)

The reasoning for imposing a duty only on employers is based on the recognition that the enterprise itself should bear the loss caused by the wrongdoings of its employees when the enterprise hires individuals with characteristics which might pose a danger to customers or other employees. (Phillips, supra, 172 Cal.App.4th at p. 1139; accord Roman Catholic Bishop v. Superior Court, supra, 42 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1564-1565 ["An employer may be liable to a third person for the employer's negligence in hiring or retaining an employee who is incompetent or unfit," italics added]; Mendoza v. City of Los Angeles (1998) 66 Cal. App. 4th 1333, 1339 ["Liability for negligent hiring and supervision is based upon the reasoning that if an enterprise hires individuals with characteristics which might pose a danger to customers or other employees, the enterprise should bear the loss caused by the wrongdoing of its incompetent or unfit employees," italics added].) Direct liability does not attach to other employees or agents of the employer. As a matter of law, liability only attaches to the entity.

As this Court has repeatedly recognized, no individual liability attaches where the function at issue is an *entity* function. Where the duty

imposed arises out of the relationship between the plaintiff and *the entity*, there is no individual, personal liability in tort for harm arising out of that relationship. (E.g., *Miklosy*, *supra*, 44 Cal.4th 876 [no supervisor personal liability for wrongful termination of employment in violation of public policy]; *Applied Equipment Corp. v. Litton Saudi Arabia Ltd.* (1994) 7 Cal.4th 503 [agent not individually liable for interfering with principal's contract]; *Doctors' Co. v. Superior Court* (1989) 49 Cal.3d 39 [attorney and expert witness not personally liable for principal's insurance bad faith]; *Gruenberg v. Aetna Ins. Co.* (1973) 9 Cal.3d 566 [same re insurance claims adjuster].)

That makes sense. The employment relationship – and the right and duty to control behavior through that relationship by hiring, firing, retaining, and disciplining employees – exists between the *employer* (the principal) and the employee (the agent). Individual co-workers, whether peers or supervisors, have no personal legal relationship with other employees. For that reason, individual managers, supervisors and co-employees are *not* personally liable to third-parties in some managerial capacity in how they hire, fire, retain, or discipline co-workers. For example, individual private party managers and supervisors are *not* personally liable for wrongful termination of employment in violation of public policy. Accordingly, neither individual public employee managers and supervisors nor, therefore, their employing public entities can be liable for such termination in violation of public policy. (*Miklosy*, *supra*, 44 Cal.4th at p. 900.)

Analogously, neither are individual managers or supervisors personally liable for public policy violative discriminatory or retaliatory hiring, firing and oversight decisions. (E.g., Jones v. Lodge at Torrey Pines Partnership (2008) 42 Cal.4th 1158, 1173; Reno v. Baird (1998) 18 Cal.4th 640.) Given that lack of statutory liability, there is even less support for the proposition that, as private persons, individual co-employees, managers or supervisors can be personally liable for employee hiring, retention and oversight decisions. Certainly, the Opening Brief cites no case holding an individual employee – public or private – personally liable for negligent hiring, retention, or oversight of another employee. But under Government Code section 820, that is what is required for public-entity vicarious liability. (See de Villers v. County of San Diego, supra, 156 Cal.App.4th 238 [where private party employees would not have been personally liable for co-worker's theft of poisons to murder spouse, no public entity liability].)

We are not aware of any published California case that authorizes, or even recognizes, a claim of negligent hiring or supervision against an individual employee for the wrongdoings of a co-employee, nor has the Opening Brief cited any such authority. But other courts have expressly disavowed such claims. (See, e.g., *Lutz v. Chitwood* (Bankr. S.D.Ohio 2005) 337 B.R. 160, 170 [Ohio law recognizes a claim for an *employer's* negligent supervision of an employee, but it does not support an imposition of liability on an employee].) This makes perfect sense since the "duty to hire employees who are competent and not dangerous is, by its very nature,

a duty of a master or employer, and this duty is nondelegable." (Magnum Foods, Inc. v. Continental Casualty Company (10th Cir. 1994) 36 F.3d 1491, 1500, citing Rest.2d Agency, §§ 492, 505.)

There is simply no support for the proposition that individual employees can be held liable under a negligent hiring or supervision theory for their co-workers' wrongful acts. The same holds true whether the employer is a private entity or a public entity.

3. Schools' hiring, supervision, and firing responsibilities create no individual school employee duty or liability.

The lack of a basis to impose personal liability on individual employee co-workers or superiors is, if anything, even greater in the public school context. That is because the individual co-worker's or superior's ability to hire, fire, retain or even discipline other employees is statutorily constrained. The hiring of certificated school employees (such as counselors, see Educ. Code, § 44065, subd. (a)(2)), is entrusted to the governing board of the school district. (Educ. Code, § 44830.) Likewise, a certificated employee may only be terminated on statutorily specified grounds. (E.g., Educ. Code, §§ 44932, 44933.) Again, the school district's governing board, *not* an individual superior, is responsible for the termination or suspension process, a process that is statutorily defined and regulated. (Educ. Code, § 44934, et seq.)

Personal legal liability should be matched with the power to control the conduct at issue. That is not the case for individual school supervisors, managers, even principals and administrators. Yet, here the claim is that any duty arises not out of any direct relationship between plaintiff and any individual (other than, of course, the counselor), but by virtue of the plaintiff's relationship with the entity – the school – and the fact that some, unnamed and unidentified individuals necessarily have a role in running the school.

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